IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

NOV 22 2017

REBECCA MEGAN QUIGLEY,

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Plaintiff and Appellant, \_\_\_\_\_  
Deputy

v.

GARDEN VALLEY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT, et al.,  
Defendants and Respondents.

Court of Appeal of the State of California, Third Appellate District  
2nd Civil No. C079270  
Superior Court of the State of California, County of Plumas  
Case No. CV1000225  
The Honorable Janet Hilde, Judge Presiding

**APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

Jay-Allen Eisen (Bar No. 42788)  
JAY-ALLEN EISEN LAW CORPORATION  
621 Capitol Mall, 18th Floor  
Sacramento, CA 95814-4731  
Telephone: 916.444.6171  
Facsimile: 916.441.5810  
Email: jay@eisenlegal.com

## ISSUE

“The issue to be briefed and argued is limited to the following: Whether, as the Court of Appeal held, the governmental immunity set forth in Government Code section 850.4 may be raised for the first time at trial.” (8/23/17 Dkt. Entry; *see* rule 8.520(b)(2)(A), Cal. Rules of Court.)

## INTRODUCTION

After four years of litigation, at the start of trial defendants and respondents moved for, and the trial court granted, nonsuit based on a defense that defendants had never before raised, even though it had been available to them from the outset of the case.

Plaintiff, Rebecca (“Becky”) Quigley, then a U.S. Forest Service firefighter, was severely injured when a 15-ton truck rolled over her while she slept in a designated sleeping area of the base camp for the fire. The camp was under the management of the defendant and respondent fire protection districts. Against federal law, they did not provide minimum protections for sleeping firefighters by signing and roping off the sleeping area. Quigley filed this action seeking damages for her injuries resulting from a dangerous condition of public property.

Defendants actively litigated the action over the next four years. At trial, after Quigley’s counsel finished his opening statement, defendants moved for nonsuit. For the first time, they asserted an immunity under the Government Claims Act that they had never before mentioned, Government Code section 850.4, which provides in relevant part, “Neither a public entity, nor a public employee acting in the scope of his [or her] employment, is liable for any injury resulting from the condition of fire protection or firefighting equipment or facilities....” Quigley’s injuries, they argued, resulted from a condition of the base camp, which they characterized as a firefighting facility.

Defendants' answer to Quigley's complaint alleged 38 affirmative defenses; 11 asserted Government Code immunities. Section 850.4 was not one of them. When asked in interrogatories to state all facts supporting each affirmative defense, defendants' answer was more than two pages but there was not a word about section 850.4 immunity. Defendants moved for summary judgment based on statutory immunities pleaded as affirmative defenses. The motion did not mention section 850.4. They held back the defense until the start of trial, then sprang it on Quigley and the court.

In opposing the nonsuit motion, Quigley argued that defendants had waived section 850.4 immunity by failing to allege it as an affirmative defense, citing authority squarely on point. The trial court rejected the argument, holding that the immunity is jurisdictional and can be raised at any time. The court of appeal agreed and affirmed. The court was wrong.

Defendants failure to plead section 850.4 as an affirmative defense and waiting until trial to raise it for the first time waived the immunity. As a basic matter of pleading, to ensure fairness in litigation and judicial efficiency and economy, a defendant must allege matter that adds a new issue to the case as an affirmative defense. Defendants' claim of section 850.4 immunity presented a new issue. Quigley's complaint for a dangerous condition of public property did not have to, and did not, allege that the base camp was a firefighting facility.

California authority squarely on point holds that failure to allege section 850.4 as an affirmative defense waives the immunity. Other cases and authorities agree. Courts throughout the country hold that an immunity must be pleaded as an affirmative defense in a government tort action, or asserting the immunity for the first time after actively litigating the case for a substantial time waives the immunity.

The court of appeal wrongly held that that defendants did not waive section 850.4 as the immunity is jurisdictional and can be raised at any



time. California courts have jurisdiction to adjudicate tort claims against governmental agencies for dangerous conditions of public property. Governmental immunity does not completely deprive the courts of all power to adjudicate such claims. Governmental immunity is a personal privilege; the government may consent to suit or waive the privilege. Were immunities jurisdictional in the sense that they divest courts of power to adjudicate and can be raised at any time, a judgment against a government agency would never be final as long as an immunity could be asserted.

A claim of governmental immunity is an issue that deserves speedy determination. Allowing the government to litigate actively and delay asserting an immunity is contrary to the very purpose of immunities, of allowing the government to raise a tardy claim of immunity after vigorously litigating a case is not only contrary to the policies of fair, orderly litigation and promoting judicial economy and efficiency, it is contrary to the proper administration of justice and the very purpose of governmental immunity.

The court of appeal's decision should be reversed.

#### **SUMMARY OF FACTS AND PROCEDURE**

The Silver Fire broke out in Plumas National Forest on September 19, 2009. (Slip op. at p. 2.)<sup>1</sup> The United States Forest Service ("Forest Service") set up a base camp at the Plumas County Fairgrounds. (*Ibid.*) It included a sleeping area for firefighters. (*Ibid.*) Forest Service rules require posting signs to designate a sleeping area and roping it off. (*Ibid.*)

The rules are set forth in the Forest Service's Health and Safety Code Handbook, FSH 6709.11 ("Health and Safety Code"), which is "the primary source of standards for safe and healthful workplace conditions ...

---

<sup>1</sup> The facts are summarized from the court of appeal's decision with occasional elaboration from the record.

and operational procedures and practices in the Forest Service....” (Slip op. at p. 2; Health and Safety Code, Zero Code, p. 0-3.)<sup>2</sup> The requirements for sleeping areas are included in § 25.13b, p. 20-87, ¶ 9. The Code requires that sleeping areas must be signed and roped off. “9. Post signs and rope off sleeping areas.” (*Id.*; see also RT 4 [Quigley’s counsel reading provision to jury]).

A direction in the Code written in the imperative mood “conveys mandatory compliance: ‘Wear a hardhat on the fireline.’” (*Ibid.*)

#### **Authorized sleeping area not signed or roped off**

The base camp was managed by a team of non-firefighters, NorCal Team 1. (*Ibid.*) The team included Frank DelCarlo, the facility unit leader, Mike Jellison, the logistics chief, and Jeff Barnhart, the camp safety officer. (Slip op. at p. 3; RT 14-15.) All three were retired U.S. Forest Service firefighters. (*Ibid.*) In managing the camp, they were employees of the defendant local fire agencies, Chester Fire Protection District and Garden Valley Fire Protection District. (Slip op. at p. 3.)

The fairground has a racetrack with a large, grassy infield. (Slip op at p. 2.) The Forest Service set up a portable shower unit on the infield. (*Ibid.*) The unit included two 1,500-gallon bladders, one with fresh water, the other holding the used, grey water from the showers. (*Id.* at pp. 2-3.) Employees of an independent contractor drove water trucks weighing up to 30,000 pounds to service the bladders. (*Id.* at p. 3.) To reach them, the drivers drove across the infield. (*Ibid.*) They were not given a map nor were they directed where they could drive. (*Ibid.*)

---

<sup>2</sup> The Health and Safety Code Handbook is available online at <http://www.fs.fed.us/im/directives/fsh/6709.11/FSH6709.pdf>. It is issued pursuant to the federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and implementing regulations. (*Id.*); Health and Safety Code, Zero Code § 01 - Authority, p. 0-3.

DelCarlo authorized the use of the infield as a sleeping area for firefighters. (*Ibid.*) Despite the command of the Health and Safety Code, the infield sleeping area was neither signed nor roped off. (*Ibid.*)

#### **Quigley permitted to sleep in authorized area**

Quigley was a Forest Service firefighter, a member of a “hotshot” crew called to fight the fire. (*Ibid.*) At about 9 p.m. on September 20 after her shift fighting the fire, she and her crew returned to the base camp. (*Ibid.*) The designated sleeping area was full and most of the crew had to sleep in and around filthy horse barns. (*Ibid.*) Quigley asked her supervisor if she could sleep in the infield area where DelCarlo had authorized firefighters to sleep and where others were already sleeping in tents and in sleeping bags on the ground. (*Ibid.*) Her supervisor agreed and she slept on the grass in her sleeping bag. (*Ibid.*)

Quigley spent the next day, the 21st, with her crew fighting the fire. (*Ibid.*) During the day, Barnhart, the camp safety officer, inspected the camp and saw the California Conservation Corps tents in the infield. (*Ibid.*) He recorded on an inspection form that all sleeping areas were separated from parking and posted, ““sleeping area (no vehicles allowed),”” but the sleeping area was still neither signed or roped off. (*Ibid.*)

#### **Run over while sleeping by heavy truck**

That night, Quigley returned to the camp at about 9:00. (*Id.* at p. 4.) Again, the designated sleeping area was full and her crew had to sleep in and around the filthy horse barns. (*Ibid.*) Quigley again asked for and was given permission to sleep on the infield grass in the area DelCarlo had authorized for sleeping. (*Ibid.*)

About 10:00 that night, an employee of the independent contractor that serviced the showers drove his truck across the infield to reach the bladders. (*Ibid.*) He drained the grey-water bladder into the truck. (*Ibid.*) As he drove off the infield, he ran over Quigley. (*Ibid.*) The truck crushed

her chest, ribs, lungs and left shoulder and fractured her back. (*Ibid.*) Her heart, lungs, and eyes were permanently damaged. (*Ibid.*)

Although Quigley recovered, she was unable to return to firefighting; she went through retraining and rehabilitation, and was in graduate school working on her master's degree at the time of trial. (RT 48-49.) Her past lost earnings and the cost of vocational retraining were \$332,000. (RT 49.) Her future lost earnings, even after retraining, will be approximately \$2.3 million. (RT 50.) She faces future medical expenses of approximately \$836,000. (*Ibid.*) These damages do not include general damages—loss of enjoyment of life, pain and suffering she will have the rest of her life; she is expected to live to the age of 82. (RT 50-51.)

### **Nonsuit**

In July 2010, Quigley filed this action against defendants alleging dangerous condition of public property and other causes of action. (§ 835; 1 AA 12-14; 2 AA 405 [Register of Action].) Defendants generally denied the allegations of the complaint; they also alleged 38 affirmative defenses. (1 AA 57-65.) Eleven of the defenses asserted immunities under the Government Claims Act, Government Code sections 810 et seq. (the Act or Claims Act).<sup>3</sup> (1 AA 60-62.) But they did not allege immunity under section 850.4.

Trial commenced on February 2, 2015, more than four years after the complaint was filed. (2 AA 410 [Register of Action].) After jury selection, on February 4, Quigley's counsel made his opening statement. (RT 1-51.) When he finished, defendants' counsel presented a written motion for nonsuit and supporting points and authorities arguing that they were not liable under various provisions of the Act. (Slip op. at p. 4; 1 AA 68-74; RT 52.) Defendants asserted, for the first time after more than four

---

<sup>3</sup> All further unspecified statutory references are to the Government Code.

years of litigating the action, that they were immune under section 850.4. (Slip op. at p. 4; 1 AA 72-73.) Defense counsel admitted that it was an argument “that I don’t think the Court has seen.” (RT 57.)

In opposing the motion, Quigley’s counsel argued that defendants had waived the immunity by failing to allege it as an affirmative defense or otherwise raise it prior to trial. (Slip op. at 4; 1 AA 99.)

After oral argument and briefing, the court granted nonsuit. (Slip op. at pp. 4-5.) The court held that defendants did not waive the immunity by not asserting it before trial as it is jurisdictional and can be raised at any time. (Slip op. at p. 5). The court subsequently denied Quigley’s motion for new trial. (*Ibid.*; 2 AA 389.)

The court of appeal affirmed, holding that defendants had not waived section 850.4 immunity by waiting to raise the issue until Quigley’s counsel finished his opening statement at trial. “[G]overnmental immunity,” the court held, “is jurisdictional and may be raised at any time. [Citations.]” (*Id.* at pp. 4-5.)

## ARGUMENT

### I.

#### THE ACT MAKES PUBLIC AGENCIES LIABLE FOR INJURIES RESULTING FROM A DANGEROUS CONDITION OF PUBLIC PROPERTY

The modern law of government tort liability begins with this Court’s decision in *Muskopf v. Corning Hosp. Dist.* (1961) 55 Cal.2d 211, in which the Court “discarded” the centuries-old rule of sovereign or governmental immunity as “mistaken and unjust.” (*Id.*, 55 Cal.2d at p. 213, and see *id.* at 215, fn. 1.) Simultaneously, in the companion case, *Lipman v. Brisbane Elementary School District* (1961) 55 Cal.2d 224, the Court suggested that the immunity of public officers and employees for discretionary acts might not extend to public entities in all cases. Consequently, public entities

became generally liable for torts. (See Van Alstyne, et al., Cal. Government Tort Liability Practice (Cont.Ed.Bar. 2017) § 1.39, pp. 1-23-24 [CEB Govt. Tort Liability].)

The Legislature responded by enacting what was then referred to as the Tort Claims Act (Gov. Code §§ 810–996.6), now named the Government Claims Act. (§ 810, subd. (b).)

*Muskopf* rested on the fundamental principle that “when there is negligence, the rule is liability, immunity is the exception.” (*Id.*, 55 Cal.2d at p. 219.) *Muskopf* indicated that the Legislature may determine the scope of tort liability of public entities. (*Id.* at p. 218). Although the Legislature has defined the scope of governmental tort liability in the Act, it did not alter that basic axiom of *Muskopf* or its corollary that “courts should not casually decree governmental immunity....” (*Johnson v. State of California* (1968) 69 Cal.2d 782, 798; see also, *Lopez v. Southern Cal. Rapid Transit Dist.* (1985) 40 Cal.3d 780, 792; *Williams v. State of California* (1983) 34 Cal.3d 18, 34; *Baldwin v. State of California* (1972) 6 Cal.3d 424, 435-436; *Ramos v. County of Madera* (1971) 4 Cal.3d 685, 692.)

Thus, as the Court has repeatedly stated, “Unless the Legislature has clearly provided for *immunity*, the important societal goal of compensating injured parties for damages caused by willful or negligent acts must prevail.” (*Milligan v. City of Laguna Beach* (1983) 34 Cal.3d 829, 832, quoting *Ramos, supra*, 4 Cal.3d at p. 692 (court’s italics added in *Milligan*); see also, *e.g.*, *Baldwin, supra*, 6 Cal.3d at p. 436; *Peterson v. San Francisco Community College Dist.* (1984) 36 Cal.3d 799, 814.)

Section 835 makes a public entity liable for injuries caused by a dangerous condition maintained on its property when the condition “‘created a reasonably foreseeable risk of the kind of injury which was incurred’ and either an employee’s negligence or wrongful act or omission

caused the dangerous condition or the entity was on ‘actual or constructive notice’ of the condition in time to have taken preventive measures.” (*Hampton v. County of San Diego* (2015) 62 Cal.4th 340, 347–348.) Quigley alleged, and was prepared to present evidence at trial, that her injuries resulted from a dangerous condition of public property that defendants negligently created —the unsigned and unprotected infield sleeping area—that exposed sleeping firefighters to an unreasonable risk of harm from traffic passing through the infield. (1 AA 12-13, ¶ 39.)

In some cases, most recently in *DiCampli-Mintz v. County of Santa Clara* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 983, 991, the Court has said that the intent of the Act “is not to expand the rights of plaintiffs in suits against governmental entities, but to confine potential governmental liability to rigidly delineated circumstances.” The negligence of defendants here in creating and maintaining the dangerous condition of property that caused Quigley’s injuries is one of those delineated circumstances. (§ 835.)

## II.

### **DEFENDANTS WAIVED THE AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE OF SECTION 850.4 IMMUNITY BY NOT RAISING IT UNTIL TRIAL**

#### **A. Section 850.4 is waived if not pleaded as an affirmative defense.**

In *McMahan’s of Santa Monica v. City of Santa Monica* (1983) 146 Cal.App.3d 683, disapproved on unrelated grounds by *Bunch v. Coachella Valley Water Dist.* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 432, 447-448, the court held squarely that section 850.4 immunity is an affirmative defense that “must be pled and proven or is deemed waived.” (*McMahan’s* at p. 689; see also *Varshock v. California Dept. of Forestry and Fire Protection* (2011) 194 Cal.App.4th 635, 651 [§ 850.4 “operates as an affirmative defense”]; *Hata v. Los Angeles County Harbor/UCLA Medical Center* (1995) 31 Cal.App.4th 1791, 1802, quoting *McMahan’s*.)

Other authorities agree. “The statutory immunities under the Government Tort Claims Act [citation] are affirmative defenses, which must be pleaded.... The pleading should contain specific allegations to show that the facts fall within the statutory provision.” (5 Witkin, *Cal. Procedure* (5th ed. 2008 and 2017 supplement) Pleading, § 1107, at p. 535 [Witkin Procedure].) “Although the [section 850.4] immunity is broadly construed, it is inapplicable in cases in which it is not pleaded. If not pleaded, it is waived.” (2 Schwing, *Cal. Affirmative Defenses* (2d ed. 2015) § 38:92 [citing *McMahan’s*]). “[I]mmunity under the statute providing a public entity with absolute immunity in situations where private property is damaged by fire protection equipment or facilities is an affirmative defense and must be pleaded and proved or is deemed waived.” (34 Cal.Jur.3d (2017 update) Fires and Fire Protection § 79; “Governmental immunities will be considered to have been waived unless they are pleaded in the answer as affirmative defenses.” Cal. Civil Practice: Torts (West Group 2017 update) § 29:27].)

Other jurisdictions agree that governmental immunity from tort liability is an affirmative defense that must be pleaded. (E.g., *Washington v. Whitaker* (1994) 317 S.C. 108, 114–15 and fn. 7 [collecting cases].)

Despite the concurrence among these authorities, the Court of Appeal held in the present case that the holding in *McMahan’s* that section 850.4 must be pleaded or it is waived was not supported by the authorities it cited, *De La Rosa v. City of San Bernardino* (1971) 16 Cal.App.3d 739 and CEB Government Tort Liability. (Slip op. at pp. 6-7.) In the Court of Appeal’s view, both authorities dealt with immunities that required the public entity defendant to make affirmative factual showings, such as that a dangerous condition of public property “conformed to a plan or design ... reasonableness, existence of a design, purpose of a road, and circumstances under which an emergency vehicle is operated.” (*Id.* at p. 7) In the Court of



Appeal’s view, however, “[t]here is no such required showing for the immunity under section 850.4, which applies, as alleged in this case, if the complained-of injury resulted from the condition of a firefighting facility.” (*Ibid.*)

The court’s view is flawed.

Section 850.4 immunity has two elements: (1) there must be “fire protection or firefighting ... facilities,” and (2) the plaintiff’s injury must have resulted from a condition of those facilities. Defendants waived section 850.4 immunity by failing plead facts in an affirmative defense that could establish those elements and put Quigley and the trial court on notice prior to trial that they were asserting the immunity.

**B. Defendants were required to allege all immunities on which they intended to rely at the outset of the case.**

**1. New matter that defendant has the burden to establish must be alleged as an affirmative defense.**

Code of Civil Procedure section 431.30, subdivision (b) prescribes the content of an answer to a complaint. In addition to general or specific denials of allegations of the complaint, the answer “shall contain” any affirmative defenses—i.e., “[a] statement of any new matter constituting a defense.” (*Id.*, subd. (b)(2).) This has been the rule almost since statehood. The language is taken verbatim from the Practice Act of 1851. (Stats. 1851, ch. 5, p. 57, § 46.)

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