Supreme Court Number S242250



# In the Supreme Court of the State of California

MAR 0 8 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

REBECCA MEGAN QUIGLEY,

Deputy

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

GARDEN VALLEY FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICT, et al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal
For the Third Appellate District
Third Civil Case Number C079270
Superior Court of the State of California
For the County of Plumas, Case No. CV10-00225
The Honorable Janet Hilde

## ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

#### LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP

Joseph A. Salazar, Jr., SBN 169551
joe.salazar@lewisbrisbois.com
Jeffry A. Miller, SBN 126074
jeff.miller@lewisbrisbois.com

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

Unless the Legislature provides a statutory waiver of governmental immunity, immunity cannot be waived by litigation conduct, or otherwise. In Charles E. Brohawn Brothers v. Board of Trustees of Chesapeake College (Md.Ct.App. 1973) 269 Md. 164, the Maryland Court of Appeals held that because of the doctrine of sovereign immunity, a litigant is precluded from asserting an otherwise meritorious cause of action against a sovereign state or one of its agencies that has inherited its sovereign attributes, unless expressly waived by statute or by a necessary inference from the legislative enactment. In the absence of statutory authorization, neither counsel for the state nor any of its agencies may, either by affirmative action or by failure to plead the defense, waive the defense of governmental immunity. (Id. at pp. 165-166.)

Similarly, the North Carolina Supreme Court held in Orange County v. Health (1972) 282 N.C. 292, the common law rule of governmental immunity prevails. Under this rule, a municipality is not liable for the torts of its employees or agents committed while performing a governmental function. In the absence of clear statutory authorization by the lawmaking body, a municipality has no power to waive its governmental immunity. The concept of sovereign immunity is so firmly established that it should not and cannot be waived by indirection or by procedural rule. Any such change should be by plain, unmistakable mandate of the lawmaking body. (Id. at p. 296.)

The Supreme Court of Kansas agreed in *Heman*Construction Co. v. Capper (1919) 105 Kan. 291:

As we understand the rule relating to the immunities attaching to sovereignty, such attributes are never to be considered as waived or surrendered by any inference or implication. The surrender of an attribute of sovereignty being so much at variance with the commonly accepted tenets of government, so much at variance with sound public policy and public welfare, the courts will never say that they have been abrogated, abridged, or surrendered, except in deference to plain, positive legislative declarations to that effect.

(Id. at pp. 293-294; Lister v. Board of Regents of the University Wisconsin System (Wis. 1976) 240 N.W.2d 610, 618 [the Legislature is the proper body to authorize suits against the state; an agency or officer of the state may not waive the state's immunity from suit unless specifically authorized to do so]; Afzall v. Commonwealth (2007) 273 Va. 226, 230 [sovereign immunity may be raised for the first time on appeal because if sovereign immunity applies, the court is without subject matter jurisdiction to adjudicate the claim].)

Likewise, in Wallace v. Dean (Fla. 2009) 3 So.3d 1035, the Florida Supreme Court stated that sovereign immunity relates to subject matter jurisdiction. Parties may not confer subject matter jurisdiction by waiver, failure to object, or consent where none is given by law. Governmental immunity may be raised at any time. (Id. at p. 1044, fn. 4.)

In North v. State (Iowa 1987) 400 N.W.2d 566, the Iowa Supreme Court stated that "[b]ecause the 'issue whether the legislature intended to waive its sovereign immunity with respect to a particular type of claim is a matter of jurisdiction,' the State may raise the issue at any time, even initially on appeal." (Id. at p. 570.)

Because public entity liability results in public expenditures, the Legislature, not the courts, is best suited to deem how and when a public entity may be subject to liability. In City of New Braunfels v. Carowest Land, Ltd. (Tex.Ct.App. 2014) 432 S.W.3d 501, the court affirmed that Texas courts have no subject matter jurisdiction over suits brought against governmental agencies because "the Legislature, not the judiciary, is best suited to make the policy-laden judgments as to how the resources of Texas governmental units should be expended." (Id. at p. 513.) The court confirmed that the Texas high court has "squarely rejected the notion that a governmental entity with authority to enter contracts, or an agent acting on its behalf, can contractually waive immunity from suit." It has similarly declined repeated requests to recognize a "waiver by conduct." (Id. at pp. 520-522.)

New Hampshire's statutory scheme is similar to California's. In New Hampshire, sovereign immunity rested on common law until the Legislature enacted statutes that adopted sovereign immunity "as the law of the state," except where a statute might provide an exception. In *Lorenz v. New Hampshire* 

Office of the Courts (2005) 152 N.H. 632, the New Hampshire Supreme Court held that sovereign immunity is a jurisdictional question not to be waived by conduct or undermined by estoppel. It is not a defense that must be affirmatively pled. (*Id.* at p. 634.) The court explained that New Hampshire courts lack subject matter jurisdiction to hear an action against the state unless the Legislature has "prescribed the terms and conditions on which it consents to be sued, and the manner in which the suit shall be conducted." (*Id.* at p. 634.) The doctrine "serves two general public policy considerations: the protection of the public against profligate encroachment on the public treasury, and the need for the orderly administration of government, which, in the absence of immunity, would be disrupted if the state could be sued at the instance of every citizen." (*Ibid.*)

In Davis v. State (2017) 297 Neb. 955, Nebraska's highest court overruled Nebraska cases holding that a statutory immunity provision under the state's Tort Claims Act is an affirmative defense that the state must plead and prove. The court held that the state's waiver of tort immunity presented a question of law. (Id. at p. 968.) After an exhaustive analysis of United States Supreme Court and circuit case law applying sovereign immunity under the Federal Tort Claims Act ("FTCA") and the Eleventh Amendment, the Nebraska Supreme Court concluded that sovereign immunity is jurisdictional in nature. (Id. at pp. 973-975.) Because courts have a duty to determine whether they have subject matter jurisdiction, treating the FTCA exceptions as waivable affirmative defenses places courts in an

impossible position when a jurisdictional problem appears on the face of a plaintiff's complaint. (*Id.* at pp. 973-978.) Thus, the court held that an exception to the state's waiver of immunity is an issue that the state may raise for the first time on appeal and is one that a court may consider sua sponte. (*Id.* at p. 979.)

Like the Act in California, Maine's statutory reformulation of the doctrine of sovereign immunity provides that all governmental entities shall be immune from suit "except as otherwise expressly provided by statute." (Me. Rev. Stat. Ann., tit. 14, § 8103.) In *Drake v. Smith* (Me. 1978) 390 A.2d 541, the Supreme Court of Maine held in the absence of specific authority conferred by an enactment of the Legislature, the sovereign's immunity from suit cannot be waived through the imposition of procedural requirements or be deemed forfeited by procedural defaults. (*Id.* at p. 543.)

This long line of out-of-state cases holding governmental immunity to be jurisdictional express principles that echo the legislative intent behind California's Act in codifying government liability and limiting public entity liability strictly as provided by statute. The California Legislature has statutorily defined public entity immunity from liability for firefighting activities. Without a statutory provision for liability, courts lack jurisdiction to decide the matter. Immunity cannot be waived through litigation conduct. When an immunity applies, there is no subject matter jurisdiction. As stated in *Drake v. Smith, supra, 390 A.2d 541*, the Legislature's enactment of the Act demonstrates that absent

specific authority conferred by the Legislature, immunity from suit cannot be waived by procedural requirements or deemed forfeited by procedural defaults. (*Id.* at p. 543.)

II. Neither the Common Law Doctrine of Sovereign Immunity Nor the Eleventh Amendment Apply or Lend Support to the Theory That Governmental Immunity May Be Waived by Failing to Assert It Before Trial.

Quigley relies heavily on the common law doctrine of sovereign immunity and the Eleventh Amendment for the proposition that a public entity must assert immunity, or it is waived. [AOB, pp. 36-38.] Quigley is mistaken.

# A. Common Law Sovereign Immunity Is Preempted by the Act.

The Act renders the common law doctrine of sovereign immunity inapplicable in two very distinct ways: (1) the Act is a comprehensive statutory scheme that expressly mandates immunity unless a statute provides otherwise and (2) the plaintiff carries the burden of establishing liability, unlike under the common law doctrine of sovereign immunity, where the public entity claiming the immunity carries the burden of proof. (People v. Miami Nation Enterprises (2016) 2 Cal.5th 222, 242-243, citing ITSI T.V. Productions, Inc. v. Agricultural Assns. (9th Cir. 1993) 3 F.3d 1289, 1291.) Indeed, under the Act, the plaintiff must first establish liability. The only manner in which a public entity may be held liable is pursuant to statute and only when there is no applicable immunity statute. (Gov. Code, § 815, subd.

(b) ["[t]he liability of a public entity . . . is subject to any immunity of the public entity provided by statute . . . and is subject to any defenses that would be available to the public entity if it were a private person"]; Brown, supra, 4 Cal.4th at p. 829, citing Williams v. Horvath, supra, 16 Cal.3d at p. 838.)

### B. Eleventh Amendment Immunity Principles Have No Application in State Court Tort Actions.

Quigley also argues states may waive immunity provided by the Eleventh Amendment because it is a personal privilege and not a limitation on the court's subject matter jurisdiction, relying primarily on *Hill v. Blind Industries & Services of Maryland* (9th Cir. 1999) 179 F.3d 754. (AOB, pp. 38-40.) None of the cases cited, however, offer support for Quigley's contention.

First, the Eleventh Amendment affords sovereign immunity to public entities in cases filed in federal court, not state court. The Eleventh Amendment is inapplicable in this state court action and offers no guidance on the issue presented here.<sup>3</sup>

Second, *Hill* involved not a tort action, but an action arising from a public entity's failure to make payments under a contract. The Act, however, applies only to tort actions and expressly excludes actions arising under contract. Indeed, when a public

Although defendants removed this case to federal court, the case was remanded to state court, where it was decided under California law.

entity enters into a contract, it may be held liable for a breach of its agreement and governmental immunity does not apply. (See Gov. Code, § 814; City of Stockton v. Superior Court (2007) 42 Cal.4th 730, 741; Souza & McCue Constr. Co. v. Superior Court of San Benito County (1962) 57 Cal.2d 508, 510-511; Roe v. Cal. (2001) 94 Cal.App.4th 64, 69-70.) Thus, Hill's analysis does not address the same immunity statute, the same theory of liability, or the same policy concerns and is inapposite.

## C. The FTCA's Treatment of Immunity As Jurisdictional Offers Relevant Guidance.

If federal court treatment of the jurisdictional nature of governmental immunities in California were considered, cases applying the FTCA provide a more relevant analytical framework than those involving the Eleventh Amendment.

The FTCA provides a general rule of liability, subject to specified exceptions. However, if a claim on its face falls within an immunity statute, the court lacks subject matter jurisdiction. The FTCA authorizes personal injury actions against the United States in the same manner as a private person could face liability. (28 U.S.C. §§ 1346(b), 2674.) The general rule of liability, however, is severely limited by several statutory exceptions to liability contained in title 28 of the United States Code section 2680. (Morris v. United States (9th Cir. 1975) 521 F.2d 872, 874.) If a plaintiff's tort claim falls within one of the exceptions, the district court lacks subject matter jurisdiction. (Richardson v. United States (9th Cir. 1991) 943 F.2d 1107, 1110,

citing 28 U.S.C. § 2680(a) [suit may not be brought when the act or omission complained of is "based upon the exercise or performance or the failure to exercise or perform a discretionary function or duty on the part of a federal agency or an employee of the Government"].)

Several circuit courts have held that the statutory exceptions to liability clearly limit the jurisdiction of federal courts. For example, in Carlyle v. United States Department of the Army (6th Cir. 1982) 674 F.2d 554 (Carlyle), the Sixth Circuit held that a plaintiff can invoke jurisdiction only if the complaint is facially outside the section 2680 exceptions. (Id. at p. 556.) This does not mean the plaintiff must disprove every exception to establish jurisdiction pursuant to the FTCA. What it does mean, though, is that a plaintiff may not invoke federal jurisdiction by pleading matters that clearly fall within the exceptions. (Ibid.) Only after a plaintiff has successfully invoked jurisdiction by a pleading that facially alleges matters not excepted by section 2680 does the burden fall on the government to prove the applicability of a specific provision of section 2680. Any other reading of the FTCA would conflict with the general rule that a party invoking federal jurisdiction must allege facts necessary to establish subject matter jurisdiction. (*Ibid.*)

Although under the FTCA the burden falls on the government to prove the applicability of a specific exception provision under title 28 of the United States Code section 2680, the exceptions are not considered affirmative defenses that can

be waived because the exceptions are an impairment of the court's power to adjudicate. (Carlyle, supra, 674 F.2d at p. 556; Prescott v. United States (9th Cir. 1991) 973 F.2d 696, 702.) As such, governmental immunities under the FTCA are jurisdictional in nature. The court lacks jurisdiction when immunity applies. (Ibid.)

One Seventh Circuit case, Stewart v. United States (7th Cir. 1952) 199 F.2d 517, held the FTCA "conferred general jurisdiction of the subject matter of claims coming within its purview, and the exceptions are available to the government as a defense only when aptly pleaded and proven." (Id. at p. 519.) The court in Stewart viewed the discretionary function exception as a waivable affirmative defense rather than an impairment of its power to adjudicate. Stewart, however, is clearly an outlier.

Neither the Ninth Circuit nor any other circuits, including the Seventh Circuit, follow Stewart's line of reasoning.

(Richardson v. United States, supra, 943 F.2d at p. 1113; see, e.g., Roberts v. United States (9th Cir. 1989) 887 F.2d 899, 900 ["if the discretionary function applies, the claims should be dismissed for lack of jurisdiction"]; Frigard v. United States (9th Cir. 1988) 862 F.2d 201, 203 [if "the discretionary function applies . . . the courts lack jurisdiction"]; McQuade v. United States (9th Cir. 1988) 839 F.2d 640, 642 [affirming district court's dismissal for lack of subject matter jurisdiction stating that if the claim is within an exception to the FTCA, "the court lacks subject matter jurisdiction"]; Garcia v. United States (9th Cir. 1987) 826 F.2d

806, 809 ["federal courts do not have subject matter jurisdiction over tort actions based on federal defendants' performance of discretionary functions"]; *Chamberlin v. Isen* (9th Cir. 1985) 779 F.2d 522, 526 [affirming district court's dismissal for lack of subject jurisdiction because the discretionary function immunity applied]; *Cisco v. United States* (7th Cir. 1985) 768 F.2d 788, 790 [same].)

As can be seen by the circuit courts' treatment of subject matter jurisdiction under the FTCA, where liability exceptions are present, they are jurisdictional in nature. The same reasoning applies to California's immunity statutes. Under the Act in California, in the absence of a statutory exception to immunity, courts lack subject matter jurisdiction to determine tort claims against government entities and employees.

- III. Section 850.4 Is Not Required to Be Pleaded As an Affirmative Defense Because It Is a Matter of Law That May Be Raised at Any Time.
  - A. Application of Section 850.4 Immunity Involves a Matter of Law and Cannot Be Waived by Litigation Conduct.

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